13/2/4

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

Case No. 76,850

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In January, 1985, Samuel James Thorpe entered into a motor vehicle lease agreement with GMAC for a 1985 Jimmy (R 33-36, 117-202, Exhibit B). The lease was for 48 months and required that Mr. Thorpe, as lessee, obtain liability insurance with limits not less than \$100/300,000 (R 112-202, Exhibit B). Pursuant to paragraph 10 of the lease the lessee had the option to purchase the vehicle for the fair market value (R 117-202, Exhibit B). The lease further provided:

25. OWNERSHIP. This is a lease only and Lessor remains the owner of the vehicle. You will not transfer, sub-lease, rent, or do

anything to interfere with Lessor's ownership of the vehicle. You and Lessor agree that this lease will be treated as a true lease for Federal Income Tax purposes and elect to have Lessor receive the benefits of ownership.... (Emphasis added) (R 112-202, Exhibit B)

In March of 1986, plaintiff was injured when his motorcycle was struck by the Jimmy driven by Samuel James Thorpe and another vehicle driven by Jose Brown and owned by Graciela Brown (R 1-3, 33-36). Plaintiff sued the Browns, Samuel James Thorpe, Unistrut Corporation (Mr. Thorpe's employer), and GMAC (R 1-3, 33-36). GMAC moved for summary judgment on the basis that it was not the owner as defined by Section 324.021(9)(b), Florida Statutes (R 14-15). The trial court denied the motion because the statute as amended, effective July 1, 1986, does not apply retroactively (R 65).

GMAC subsequently filed a renewed motion for final partial summary judgment pursuant to Section 324.021(9)(a), Florida Statutes, claiming that this statute exempts long-term lessors from vicarious liability under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine and because GMAC, under the terms of the lease, was not the beneficial owner of the vehicle (R 203-217). The court granted GMAC's motion and entered a final partial summary judgment for GMAC, finding no liability as a matter of law under Section 324.021(9)(a), that the dangerous instrumentality doctrine does not apply to long-term lessors, and that GMAC did not have beneficial

ownership of the leased vehicle on the day of the accident (R 339-340).

Plaintiffs appealed to the Third District Court of Appeal which affirmed based on <u>Kraemer v. General Motors Acceptance Corporation</u>, 556 So.2d 431 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), <u>jurisdiction accepted</u>, 564 So.2d 487 (Fla. 1990) and <u>Raynor v. De La Nuez</u>, 558 So.2d 141 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), <u>pending Florida Supreme Court Case No. 75,870</u>, and certified the decision to this court as a question of great public importance. The Third District did not set out a precise question, but the question, based on the cases cited and the issue before the court, is whether a long-term lessor of a motor vehicle is vicariously liable for the negligent operation of that vehicle under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine.

ISSUE

WHETHER, PRIOR TO THE ENACTMENT OF SECTION 324.021(9)(b), FLORIDA STATUTES (1986 SUPP.), A VEHICLE OWNER LEASING A VEHICLE UNDER A LONG-TERM LEASE WAS VICARIOUSLY LIABLE FOR THE NEGLIGENT OPERATION OF THAT VEHICLE UNDER FLORIDA'S DANGEROUS INSTRUMENTALITY DOCTRINE.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Florida courts have long held that the dangerous instrumentality doctrine renders lessors liable for the negligent operation of a vehicle and have drawn no distinction between long-term and short-term leases. In <u>Susco Car Rental System of Florida v. Leonard</u>, 112 So.2d 832 (Fla. 1959), this court reiterated that

relinquishment of possession and control is not the touchstone in determining liability under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine and decided as a matter of public policy that this extension of liability where the owner does not have custody and control is necessary to protect the motoring public.

The Second District Court of Appeal's opinions in <u>Perry</u> and <u>Kraemer</u> were the first to distinguish between long-term and short-term leases. These cases and their progeny ignore the purpose of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine and inappropriately rely upon a decision of this court, <u>Palmer v. R.S. Evans</u>, Jacksonville, Inc., 81 So.2d 635 (Fla. 1955), involving a conditional sale. <u>Perry</u> and <u>Kraemer</u> incorrectly analogized long-term leases to conditional sales and reasoned that, like conditional sales contracts, long-term leases transfer beneficial ownership to the lessee so that the long-term lessor should escape liability under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine for the same reasons that conditional vendors do. A lease, however, does not transfer beneficial ownership to the lessee, only possession. The lessor is not akin to a naked legal title holder; therefore, the analogy to conditional sale is inappropriate.

This court should answer the certified question and hold the long-term lessor liable under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine, particularly in cases predating the amendment to Section

324.021(9)(b). The Third District's decision should be quashed and the case remanded to the trial court for further proceedings.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

WHETHER, PRIOR TO THE ENACTMENT OF SECTION 324.021(9)(b), FLORIDA STATUTES (1986 SUPP.), A VEHICLE OWNER LEASING A VEHICLE UNDER A LONG-TERM LEASE WAS VICARIOUSLY LIABLE FOR THE NEGLIGENT OPERATION OF THAT VEHICLE UNDER FLORIDA'S DANGEROUS INSTRUMENTALITY DOCTRINE.

The Third District relied on <u>Kraemer v. General Motors</u>

<u>Acceptance Corporation</u>, 556 So.2d 431 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989),

<u>jurisdiction accepted</u>, 564 So.2d 487 (Fla. 1990) and <u>Raynor v. De</u>

<u>La Nuez</u>, 558 So.2d 141 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), <u>pending</u> Supreme Court

Case No. 75,870, in affirming the trial court's finding the long
term lessor immune from liability under Section 324.021(9), Florida

Statutes (1985). The issue here is identical to the issue

addressed in <u>Raynor v. De La Nuez</u>, <u>supra</u>. Petitioner respectfully

adopts and incorporates the arguments presented by petitioner in

<u>Raynor v. De La Nuez</u> [<u>Equilease</u>], <u>supra</u>.

Kraemer and its immediate predecessor, <u>Perry v. G.M.A.C.</u>

<u>Leasing Corporation</u>, 549 So.2d 680 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), <u>rev. denied</u>,

558 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1990), held that, unlike short-term leases,
long-term leases transfer "beneficial ownership" to the lessee in
the same way conditional sales contracts do; therefore, the longterm lessor should escape liability under the dangerous

instrumentality doctrine for the same reason that conditional vendors do. 1 Kraemer further held that Florida's dangerous instrumentality doctrine never applied to long-term leases, including actions arising prior to July 1, 1986 (the effective date of the statutory amendment to Section 324.021). In so holding, the Second District relied heavily upon Palmer v. R.S. Evans, Jacksonville, Inc., 81 So.2d 635 (Fla. 1955), in which this court held that conditional vendors transferring "beneficial ownership" to their conditional vendee and retaining only "naked legal title" as security are not liable under Florida's dangerous instrumentality doctrine.

It is respectfully submitted that the Second District misapplied <u>Palmer</u> which is distinguishable from long-term leases and ignored the very purpose of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine as articulated in <u>Susco Car Rental System of Florida v. Leonard</u>, 112 So.2d 832 (Fla. 1959), namely, to cover situations where the owner does not have custody and control. The rationale of <u>Kraemer</u>, that there never existed a common law right of action

In <u>Perry</u>, the primary question was whether subsection (b), the amendment to Section 324.021, abrogated the dangerous instrumentality doctrine in circumstances where an owner/lessor leased the vehicle for one year or more and the lessor had complied with the minimum liability insurance requirements. The Second District held that the statute exempted the long-term lessor from liability under those circumstances and did not violate Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution by abolishing a previously existing cause of action against the owner/lessor. <u>Perry</u> is inapplicable here since the lease was executed and the accident occurred before the effective date of the amendment.

under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine against a long-term lessor, is fundamentally incorrect. A lease, by definition, does not transfer beneficial ownership to the lessee. The lease transfers only possession, leaving both legal and beneficial ownership in the owner/lessor. In re Ludlam Enterprises, Inc., 510 F.2d 996 (5th Cir. Fla. 1975).

The lease here provided that,

This is a lease only and lessor remains the owner of the vehicle. You will not transfer, sub-lease, rent, or do anything to interfere with lessor's ownership of the vehicle. You and lessor agree that this lease will be treated as a true lease for Federal Income Tax purposes and elect to have lessor receive the benefits of ownerships... (Emphasis added)

In spite of this provision, GMAC claimed it only had beneficial ownership of the car. This provision in the GMAC/Thorpe lease, that the transaction was a true lease, was a concession that both legal and beneficial ownership of the vehicle belonged to GMAC.

This lease agreement was also not equivalent to a conditional sale since this lease is a "true lease". The lease itself so states and prohibits any act inconsistent with the lessor's <u>legal</u> and <u>beneficial ownership</u>. In a lease agreement the owner retains legal and beneficial title and transfers only a possessory interest to the lessee. In a conditional sales contract the owner retains only naked legal title and transfers beneficial ownership and possession to the conditional vendee. Further, the option to

purchase contained in paragraph 10 of the lease did not give Mr. Thorpe "the option to become the owner of the property for no additional consideration or for a nominal consideration", a crucial element in determining a lease versus a conditional sale under Section 671.201(37), Florida Statutes (1985). Instead, the option to purchase required Mr. Thorpe to pay the "fair market value" defined as "the average of the retail and wholesale value stated in a then current vehicle guide book selected by the lessor". There is no way this lease agreement can be construed as a conditional sales contract. See Sellers v. Frank Griffin AMC Jeep, Inc., 526 So.2d 147 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); Transport Rental Systems, Inc. v. Hertz Corporation, 129 So.2d 454 (Fla. 3d DCA 1961).

The point then becomes whether GMAC, as owner/lessor of the vehicle driven by Mr. Thorpe, can be liable for his negligence under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. With the exception of the Second District's holdings in Kraemer and Perry and the Third District's adoption of these cases, numerous Florida cases hold that the owner of a vehicle leased to another is vicariously liable for the negligent operation of the vehicle under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. Hernandez v. Hertz Corporation, 680 F.Supp. 378 (S.D. Fla. 1988), app. dismissed, 867 F.2d 1330 (11th Cir. 1989); Roth v. Old Republic Insurance Company, 269 So.2d 3 (Fla. 1972); Susco Car Rental System of Florida v. Leonard, supra; Fleming v. Alter, 69 So.2d 185 (Fla. 1953); Lynch V. Walker, 159 Fla. 188, 31 So.2d 268 (1947); Avis Rent-A-Car

Systems, Inc. v. Garmas, 440 So.2d 1311 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), rev. denied, 451 So.2d 848 (Fla. 1984); Allstate Insurance Company of Canada v. Value Rent-A-Car of Florida, Inc., 463 So.2d 320 (Fla. 5th DCA), rev. denied, 476 So.2d 672 (Fla. 1985). Similarly, the facts in Canal Insurance Company v. Continental Casualty Company, 489 So.2d 136 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986), where the vehicle was leased in 1977 and the accident occurred in 1979, indicate that courts have imposed liability against long-term lessors for the negligent operation of their vehicles under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine.

In <u>Insurance Company of North America v. Avis Rent-A-Car Systems</u>, Inc., 348 So.2d 1149 (Fla. 1977), this court squarely held on page 1153 of the opinion that a lessor as a vehicle owner has a common law obligation under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine, distinct from its responsibilities under the financial responsibility law:

... the financial responsibility law is only relevant to situations such as this insofar as it is necessary to protect the public from uncompensated losses arising from the use of motor vehicles. To this end the law requires motor vehicle owners to provide liability insurance coverage for the operation of their motor vehicles on the highways of this state Independent of this insurance requirement is the common law obligation of vehicle owners under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. (Emphasis added).

The Fifth District reiterated this in Racecon, Inc. v. Mead, 388 So.2d 266 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980), holding as follows on page 268 of the opinion:

Independent of any insurance requirement, and by virtue of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine, there is a common law obligation of owners of motor vehicles which makes them responsible for injuries caused by such vehicle in the course of its intended use.

None of the cases distinguish between long-term and short-term rentals. In fact, Chapter 319, dealing with title certificates, lumps long-term and short-term rentals together. § 319.14(1)(b)(2), Fla. Stat. (1985). If the legislature had intended to exempt long-term lessors from liability in Chapter 324, it would have used language similar to Section 319.22(2), Florida Statutes, dealing with conditional sales or included long-term lesses in that definition. The conditional sales statute does not include long-term lessors and does not exempt them from liability.

Numerous cases deal with whether a lessor's liability insurance coverage is primary, each case assuming as an essential predicate that the owner/lessor of the vehicle is vicariously liable for its negligent operation. Roth v. Old Republic Insurance Company, supra; Tribbitt v. Crown Contractors, Inc., 513 So.2d 1084 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987); Sunshine Dodge, Inc. v. Ketchem, 445 So.2d 395 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984). In Enterprise Leasing Company v. Almon, 559 So.2d 214 (Fla. 1990), the Supreme Court continued to recognize the

lessor/owner's liability for injuries to third persons as a result of the negligent operation of the vehicle under Florida's dangerous instrumentality doctrine.

Further, if the statute as it existed prior to the 1986 amendment exempted long-term lessors from liability under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine, no basis existed for the statutory amendment. This contradicts all precepts of statutory construction and renders the amendment meaningless. See Escambia County Council on Aging v. Goldsmith, 465 So.2d 655 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). The Fourth District's opinion in Folmar v. Young, 560 So.2d 798 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), pending on rehearing and certification, supports this view.

The owner of a vehicle leased to another is vicariously liable for the negligent operation of the vehicle under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine regardless of whether the lease is short-term or long-term. The Second District's opinions in Perry and Kraemer were the first to distinguish between long-term and short-term leases. There is no sensible dividing line between short-term and long-term leases where "possession and control" are concerned; therefore, "possession and control" cannot be the touchstone for liability under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. This comports with this court's holding in Susco which declared "possession and control" an ultimately irrelevant question and described the dangerous instrumentality doctrine as a rule of

public policy which creates an additional layer of financial responsibility to protect the travelling public. Perry, Kraemer and their progeny ignore and nullify this public policy. The Third District decision should be quashed.

CONCLUSION

The Third District erred in concluding that the dangerous instrumentality doctrine is inapplicable to owners/lessors leasing vehicles under long-term leases. The district court's decision should be quashed and the case remanded to the trial court for further proceedings, including determination of the "sale versus lease" issue.

SHELDON J. SCHLESINGER, P.A.
1212 S.E. 3rd Avenue
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33316
(305) 467-8800
and
JANE KREUSLER-WALSH, and
LARRY KLEIN, of
KLEIN & WALSH, P.A.
501 South Flagler Drive
Suite 503 Flagler Center
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
(407) 659-5455

JANE KREUSLER-WALSH Florida Bar No. 272371