# IN THE - SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE
DEC 12 1990
CLERK, SUNCEME COURT
By Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 76,850

JAMES ROBERT ROOKS,

Petitioner,

v.

SAMUEL JAMES THORPE; GENERAL MOTORS ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION; JOSE A. BROWN, GRACIELA BROWN, and UNISTRUT CORP., a foreign corporation,

Respondent(s).

ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT GENERAL MOTORS ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JEFFREY B. SHAPIRO
JUDY D. SHAPIRO
HERZFELD AND RUBIN
801 Brickell Avenue
Suite 1501
Miami, Florida 33131
(305) 381-7999

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Final Partial Summary Judgment entered in favor of GMAC and against PETITIONER is correct. No genuine issues of material fact exist. As a matter of law, and pursuant to Section 324.021(9)(a), Fla. Stat. (1985), GMAC is not to be considered the owner of, and therefore not vicariously liable for, the vehicle leased to THORPE, where THORPE was given immediate possession and the right to purchase the leased vehicle.

Additionally, GMAC was not the beneficial owner of the leased vehicle on the date of the accident, and therefore not vicariously liable for the negligence, if any, of the LESSEE/THORPE. Tort liability is imposed upon the beneficial owner, not the mere titleholder, of a vehicle.

## ARGUMENT1

I.

FINAL PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF GMAC IS PROPER WHERE: 1) PURSUANT TO SECTION 324.021(9)(a), LESSOR/GMAC IS NOT LIABLE AS THE "OWNER" OF THE LEASED VEHICLE, AND 2) GMAC DID NOT HAVE BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF THE LEASED VEHICLE.

## A. $\S$ 324.021(9)(a).

Section  $324.021(9)(\underline{a})$ , Florida Statutes (1985), originally enacted thirty-one years prior to the passage of subsection (b), states as follows:

(a) <u>Owner</u> - A person who holds the legal title of a motor vehicle; <u>or</u>, in the event a motor vehicle is the subject of an agreement for the conditional sale <u>or lease</u> thereof with the right of purchase upon performance of the conditions stated in the agreement and with an immediate right of possession vested in a conditional vendee or lessee, or in the event a mortgagor of a vehicle is entitled to possession, <u>then such conditional vendee or lessee</u> or mortgagor shall be deemed the owner for the purpose of this chapter. (Emphasis added).

The agreement entered into between GMAC and THORPE, gave THORPE the right of purchase, as well as immediate possession of

¹PETITIONER herein "adopts and incorporates" the argument presented by the petitioner in <u>Raynor v. de la Nuez</u>, Case No. 75,870 pending before this Court. While GMAC questions the propriety of incorporating the arguments contained in a brief in another matter, not even attached to PETITIONER's Brief, in an over-abundance of caution, GMAC will adopt the arguments set forth in the Amicus Curiae Brief filed in <u>Raynor</u> by the Florida Motor Vehicle Leasing Group.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>As early as 1955, a lessor who afforded a lessee a right of purchase and an immediate right of possession was entitled not to be sued as the owner of the vehicle. Thus, it would seem that effective with the adoption of the Florida Constitution in 1968, incorporating existing statutes, such lessors had a <u>constitutional</u> right not to be sued.

the leased vehicle. Therefore, pursuant to § 324.021(9)(a), GMAC is not deemed to be the "owner" of the leased vehicle on the date of the accident, for purposes of imposing vicarious liability.

Raynor v. De la Nuez, 15 F.L.W. D694 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990).

Clearly, subsection (a) is a statutory codification of the law set forth in <u>Palmer v. Evans</u>, 81 So.2d 635 (Fla. 1955), decided the same year that subsection (a) was enacted. <u>Palmer</u> held that the mere titleholder, who had transferred beneficial ownership, was not liable under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine for an automobile's negligent operation by another. Section 324.021(9)(a) expanded the law set forth in <u>Palmer</u>, so as to also exclude lessors, who have given their lessees the rights enunciated in subsection (a), from liability. Thus, in 1955, § 324.021(9)(a) established an exception to a lessor's liability first imposed by <u>Lynch v. Walker</u>, 31 So.2d 268 (Fla. 1947).

To in its definition of "owner" in subsection (a). For purposes of imposing tort liability, the "owner" is the legal titleholder unless there is a lessee who has been given immediate possession and the right of purchase. In that event, only the lessee is deemed the owner. The use of "or" cannot be ignored, as every word in a statute must be given meaning and effect. Vocelle v. Knight Bros. Paper Co., 118 So.2d 664 (Fla. 1st DCA 1960).

The question of whether the lease between GMAC and THORPE complies with § 324.021(9)(a), is one of law, not one of fact. Since no ambiguities appear in the contract entered into between GMAC and THORPE, the contract's interpretation is an issue of law,

and the summary judgment procedure becomes the appropriate vehicle upon which to decide this cause. Cox Motor Co. v. Faber, 113 So.2d 771 (Fla. 1st DCA 1959).

## B. CASES FROM OTHER JURISDICTIONS.

There are cases from other jurisdictions with identical or analogous statutory provisions to § 324.021(9)(a) excluding certain lessors from the definition of "owner." In each instance, no insurance requirements were placed upon the lessor prior to being excepted from the definition of "owner." In Lee v. Ford Motor Co., 595 F. Supp. 1114 (D.D.C. 1984), involving a statute identical to subsection (a), the owner/lessor of a vehicle involved in an accident, was held not to be the owner as defined by the Motor Vehicle Safety Responsibility Act. (It should be noted that the vicarious liability imposed in Florida is "closely allied" with that of the District of Columbia. Hertz Corp. v. Dixon, 193 So.2d 176 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966)). The lessor was therefore held not to be vicariously liable for the vehicle's negligent operation.

In 1956, Congress enacted the present Motor Vehicle Safety Responsibility Act, . . . adding a definition of the term owner;

[a] person who holds a legal title of a vehicle or in the event a vehicle is the subject ofagreement for the conditional sale or lease thereof with the right of purchase upon performance of condition stated in the agreement with an immediate right of possession vested in the conditional vendee or lessee, or in the event a mortgagor of a vehicle is entitled to possession, then such conditional vendee or lessee or mortgagor shall be deemed the owner for the purpose of this chapter. Id. at 1115.

Ford Motor Company was held not to be the "owner" under this statutory provision, for purposes of imposing tort liability for the negligence of the lessee.

In the present case, it is undisputed that Ford lacked "dominion and control" over the vehicle in question. The car had been provided to FCA by Ford while one of the vehicles under a long-term lease between the parties was being repaired. . . . Under the lease, title remained in Ford but authority to control and operate the vehicles was given to the lessee, FCA. Ford had no immediate right to control the use of the vehicles at the time of the accident. <u>Id</u>. at 1116.

The court imposed "the liability upon the person in a position . . . to allow or prevent the use of the vehicle . . . . " Id. This analysis closely comports with the early Florida decisions dealing with liability under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine, reiterated and adopted in Perry v. G.M.A.C. Leasing Corp., 549 So.2d 680 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989).

Moore v. Ford Motor Credit Co., 420 N.W.2d 577 (Mich. App. 1988), is also instructive. The Michigan statute provides as follows:

"Owner" means: (a) any person, firm, association or corporation renting a motor vehicle or having exclusive use thereof, under a lease or otherwise, for a period of greater than thirty days.

(b) A person who holds the legal title of a vehicle or in the event a vehicle is the subject of an agreement for the conditional sale or lease thereof with the right of purchase upon performance of the conditions stated in the agreement and with an immediate right of possession vested in a conditional vendee or lessee or in the event a mortgagor of a vehicle is entitled to possession, then such conditional vendee or lessee or mortgagor shall be deemed the owner.

The court held that although the lessor was the legal titleholder of the vehicle, the lessor was not to be deemed the "owner," as defined by statute, for purposes of imposing tort liability.

We believe that the second part of subsection (b) qualifies the first part, so that the legal title holder of a vehicle subject to a conditional lease is not an owner for purposes of the civil liability statute. In other words, Section 37 excepts from its definition of "owner" a lessor such as defendant, and deems a lessee, here Darlene Moore, "the owner."

\* \* \*

If the Legislature had not intended to except lessors such as defendant from the definition of "owner" then the second part of subsection (b) would not have been necessary. Every word of a statute should be given meaning and no word should be treated as surplusage or rendered nugatory if at all possible. Id.

Thus, Ford Motor Credit was not vicariously liable for the negligence of the lessee.

[L]egal titleholder of a vehicle subject to a conditional lease is not an owner for purposes of the civil liability statute. In other words, Section 37 excepts from its definition of "owner" a lessor such as defendant, and deems a lessee, here Darlene Moore, "the owner." Id.

Siverson v. Martori, 581 P.2d 285 (Ariz. App. 1978), involves a statute identical to § 324.021(9)(a). The court there held the statute defined the "owner" for both purposes of tort liability and criminal liability for the operation of a motor vehicle.

We do not read the definition of "owner" in A.R.S. § 28-101(30) [Florida's subsection (a)] to apply to a holder of bare legal title in the context of imposing criminal liability under A.R.S. § 28-921(A). It is inconceivable to us that the Legislature, in enacting A.R.S. § 28-101(30), intended the imposition of

either civil or criminal liability on the holder of bare legal title. Id. at 289.

Witkofski v. Daniels, 198 A. 19 (Pa. 1938), deals with a statute identical to § 324.021(9)(a).

The title to this car was in Adair Motor Company. The latter rented the car to Henry Daniels for \$161.00 on or before delivery, leaving a deferred rental of \$576.00, which lessee promised to pay at the office of Universal Credit Company in installments of \$32.00 each month. After all payments had been made as agreed, the lessee, Henry Daniels, had the right to purchase the car for \$1.00...Id. at 20.

The Adair Motor Company, the owner of a 1934 Ford 8 Coupe, leased that car to Henry, with the right in the latter of purchase upon performance of the conditions stated in the agreement and with an immediate right of possession vested in [Henry Daniels] the conditional vendee or lessee. That situation made Henry Daniels the "owner" of that car, under the provisions of Section 102 of the Act... Id. at 21. (Emphasis added).

The Washington State case of <u>Beatty v. Western Pacific</u>

<u>Insurance Co.</u>, 445 P.2d 325 (Wash. 1968), involves a Washington state statute which provides as follows:

RCW 46.04.380 Owner. "Owner" means a person who holds a title of ownership of a vehicle, or in the event the vehicle is subject to an agreement for the conditional sale or lease thereof with the right of purchase upon performance of the conditions stated in the agreement and with the immediate right of purchase vested in the conditional vendee or lessee, or in the event a mortgagor of a vehicle is entitled to possession, then any conditional vendee orlessee, mortgagor having a lawful right of possession or use and control for a period of ten or more successive days.

The court held that the conditional vendee fell squarely within the statute's definition of "owner" for purposes of the financial

responsibility act. The conditional vendor was held not to be the "owner" for the imposition of tort liability. The court, in so holding, reasoned that this result was just since:

The rationale most frequently advanced for this view is that where possession of the automobile has been transferred pursuant to the conditional sales agreement, the conditional vendor no longer owns the vehicle in such a sense as will enable him to give or withhold his consent to the use of the vehicle by the vendee, and that the vendor retains title for security purposes rather than for purposes of dominion over the vendee's possession and use of the car. Id. at 331.

\* \* \*

Under the conditional sales transaction herein involved the conditional vendee, Scott, had the lawful right of possession or use and control of the automobile involved for a period in excess of ten (10) days. He, therefore, fell squarely within the foregoing definition and was both the "operator" and the "owner" within the contemplation of the financial responsibility act. The conditional vendor, Sutliff, holding only a security interest, does not come within the thrust of the act. Id. at 333-34.

Cowles v. Rogers, 762 S.W.2d 414 (Ky. App. 1989), involves a statute similar to subsection (a), the only difference being that Kentucky's statute requires a lease of one year or longer. In holding the lessee to be the "owner" of the leased motor vehicle, the court stated:

The rationale for the rule is that possession of the vehicle is transferred under circumstances which prevent the seller from controlling the use of the vehicle by giving or withholding consent. We believe our jurisdiction's apparent adoption of this general rule by statute is both logical and sound. Id. at 417.

Likewise, the Nevada Supreme Court in <u>Bly v. Mid-Century Ins. Co.</u>, 698 P.2d 877 (Nev. 1985), held that a statute identical to Florida's subsection (a) imposes liability only on the conditional vendee.

Arter v. Jacobs, 234 N.Y.S. 357 (App. Div. 1929), involves a statute virtually identical to § 324.021(9)(a). The case held that the lessee of an automobile would be deemed the "owner" of the vehicle, so as to be liable for its negligent operation, where a lessor retained title, until payment was made in full, and even though the lessor was empowered to repossess the automobile in the event of the lessee's breach.

Riggs v. Gardikas, 427 P.2d 890 (N.M. 1967), involves a New Mexico statute identical to § 324.021(9)(a). That case held that where trucks were subject to conditional sales or lease contracts, the vendee/lessee, who had the immediate right of possession, would be deemed the "owner" under that state's motor vehicle act. In fact, the court held that the lessee's judgment creditors were entitled to replevy the leased trucks to satisfy the lessee's debts.

High Point Savings and Trust Co. v. King, 117 S.E.2d 421 (N.C. 1960), also involves a statute identical to § 324.021(9)(a). The court held that the conditional vendee, lessee or mortgagor of a motor vehicle is deemed to be the owner for the purposes of the Motor Vehicle Safety and Financial Responsibility Act, even though legal title is reposed in a third party. Liability on the part of the legal titleholder, <u>i.e.</u>, the conditional vendor or lessor, could arise:

Only by application of the doctrine of respondeat superior, that is, by showing the relationship of master and servant, or employer and employee, or principal and agent. The complaint does not allege facts showing any such relationship. Id. at 422 (emphasis added).

Patently, the Florida Legislature, in excepting lessors such as GMAC from the definition of "owner" in § 324.021(9)(a), intended that those lessors not be considered "owners" for purposes of imposing tort liability. Thus, under subsection (a), GMAC is not deemed the "owner" and, therefore, not liable for the negligence of THORPE under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. No question of fact exists. As a matter of law, pursuant to § 324.021(9)(a), GMAC is not liable for PETITIONER's injuries.

#### C. BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP.

Absent § 324.021(9)(a), GMAC would still not be liable for Petitioner's alleged injuries in that GMAC lacked beneficial ownership of the leased vehicle at the time of the accident. Contrary to PETITIONER's theory, naked legal title is not tantamount to automobile ownership for purposes of imposing tort liability. Morgan v. Collier County Motors, Inc., 193 So.2d 35 (Fla. 2d DCA 1966). "Ownership is determined by the party having the beneficial interest with control and authority of the automobile's use." Id. at 37.

To permit a party by contract to have possession of and a contractual vested interest in the ownership of a vehicle yet to vest the legal and beneficial title in another and thereby avoid tort liability would be an anomaly in the law. It would be completely illogical to interpret this clause to mean that even though the purchaser has a binding contract, has a vested right therein, accepts

delivery, control and authority of use of the vehicle, and has made a substantial down payment thereon, that nevertheless he is not the owner in determining his tort liability to third parties.

We therefore hold that the purchaser held a binding contract to purchase pursuant to which he had accepted delivery, made a payment thereon and had control and authority of use thereof; that he was the beneficial owner of the automobile at the time of the accident and was the party liable for any damages resulting therefrom. Cox Motor Co. at 774-75. (Emphasis added).

The concept of imposing tort liability on the beneficial owner of a vehicle is not a novel concept.<sup>3</sup> Imposing liability on one other than the beneficial owner <u>would</u> be a departure from well-established law.

Although GMAC may have held naked legal title on the date of the accident, THORPE had the beneficial ownership, with possession, control and authority of the vehicle's use at the time of the accident. Therefore, as a matter of law, GMAC is not liable for THORPE's allegedly negligent operation of the vehicle.

The LESSEE/THORPE was solely responsible for: 1) maintenance of the leased vehicle; 2) repairs to keep the leased vehicle in good working order; 3) any other expenses associated with operating the leased vehicle; 4) servicing the leased vehicle according to the manufacturer's recommendations set forth in the owner's manual;

While much ado is being made of the recent decisions in <u>Perry</u>, <u>Kraemer</u>, and their progeny, in fact, no new law has been espoused. Tort liability has always followed beneficial ownership. It simply appears that prior to these cases, the issue of beneficial ownership <u>vis a vis</u> a <u>lease</u> had never been raised. It also appears that previously the exemption provided by § 324.021(9)(a) had not been raised.

5) payment of title expenses; 6) payment of all registration fees; 7) payment of all licensing fees; 8) payment of all inspections required by governmental authority; 9) payment of all excise, use, personal property, gross receipts and other taxes incurred with respect to the leased vehicle; and 10) indemnification to GMAC as a result of all losses, damages, injuries, claims, demands and expenses arising out of the operation of the vehicle.

The same indicia of beneficial ownership found lacking in GMAC, was also found to be lacking in the Palmer vendor. and its progeny set forth the principle, codified by § 324.021(9)(a), that the beneficial ownership of a motor vehicle carries with it the liability for negligent operation. The mere naked legal titleholder is not so encumbered. Recognizing the beneficial ownership doctrine via the conditional vendee, Palmer, supra, states:

> It appears without contradiction that on August 16, 1952, two days before the accident, Hughes selected the car for purchase from R. S. Evans at an agreed price of \$1030, paid \$50 as a partial down payment, signed an order for the car, and signed a purchaser's statement for the purpose of obtaining credit. Hughes returned to the Evans lot on August 18, 1952, the date of the accident, and paid an Evans salesman \$300, the remainder of the down Hughes also signed a conditional payment. sales contract and a power of attorney in blank, whereupon possession of the automobile was delivered to him and he drove it away and was thereafter involved in the accident. . . . although the Evans bookkeeper did not date the conditional sales contract until August 19th and did not fill out the Certificate of Title application until August 21st. Id. at 636. (Emphasis added).

Just as the legal titleholder in <u>Palmer</u> was held not liable for the vehicle's negligent operation, GMAC should be held not liable under the <u>Palmer</u> statutory codification, § 324.021(9)(a).

In the case at bar, the parties intended to enter, did enter, and ultimately memorialized in writing, a conditional sales contract, in which title was retained by the seller until the completion of payment. Thus legal title to the automobile remained in the seller, R. S. Evans, time at the the accident occurred. But the rationale of our cases which impose tort liability on the owner of an automobile operated by another . . . would not be served by extending the doctrine to one who holds mere naked legal title as security for the payment of the purchase price. In such a title holder, the authority over the use of the vehicle, which reposes in the beneficial owner, is absent. Probably because of this fact, the term "owner" is defined in F.S. § 317.74(20), F.S.A. [now 316.003] to mean only the conditional vendee, in the case of a vehicle which is the subject of an ordinary agreement for conditional sale. Moreover, in jurisdictions having statutes making the owner liable for the negligence of another driving his car with his consent, the term "owner" has been universally construed to eliminate those who hold nothing more than legal title. at 637. (Emphasis added).

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